THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

JAN 31 2018

Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Case No. 13-ALJ-07-0056-CC
Appellant Case No. 2014-000847

Preservation Society of Charleston, Historic Charleston Foundation, Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Association, South Carolina Coastal Conservation League, Charlestowne Neighborhood Association, Charleston Chapter of the Surfrider Foundation, and Charleston Communities for Cruise Control Petitioners,

vs.

South Carolina State Ports Authority and South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control..... Respondents.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in creating a new test for “constitutional standing” in South Carolina whereby unchallenged testimony from individuals describing direct injuries from a proposed new port facility – including degradation of the use, enjoyment, and value of their property; impairment of their use of nearby waterways; and reasonable personal health concerns from breathing toxic diesel soot that settles on their homes – were dismissed as “generalized grievances” insufficient to support standing?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in creating a new test for associational standing that will prevent organizations whose members have demonstrated particularized injury to property and health from challenging state pollution permits?
3. Did the courts below err in allowing relitigation of Petitioners’ Article III constitutional standing where their Article III standing had been fully litigated before a federal Article III court, and that court ruled that Petitioners had Article III standing?
4. Did the ALC abuse its discretion by imposing sanctions on Petitioners for offering a reasonable interpretation of ambiguous statutory text in a case of first impression?
5. Was the ALC’s retroactive closure of discovery to block depositions before summary judgment an abuse of discretion where the ALC and the parties had recognized discovery as ongoing for months beyond the date retroactively announced by the ALC as having closed it?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the right of South Carolina citizens to challenge permits for major polluting facilities proposed adjacent to their homes and neighborhoods – specifically, the rights of citizen groups contesting the legality of State-issued pollution permits for a large new cruise ship terminal adjacent to residential neighborhoods on the densely packed peninsula of historic downtown Charleston.

South Carolina courts have long recognized the right of citizens to challenge the lawfulness of state-authorized pollution permits. *E.g.*, *S.C. Wildlife Fed'n v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 296 S.C. 187, 190, 371 S.E.2d 521, 523 (1988) (affirming organization’s standing to challenge state permit for wetlands development); *Georgetown Cnty. League of Women Voters v. Smith Land Co.*, 393 S.C. 350, 353, 713 S.E.2d 287, 289 (2011) (affirming organization’s standing to challenge wetland fill activities); *Ballenger v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 331 S.C. 247, 256, 500 S.E.2d 183, 187 (Ct. App. 1998) (upholding citizen standing to challenge state landfill permit).

Under that precedent, the citizen groups in this case – Preservation Society of Charleston, Historic Charleston Foundation, Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Association, South Carolina Coastal Conservation League, Charlestowne Neighborhood Association, Charleston Chapter of the Surfrider Foundation, and Charleston Communities for Cruise Control (collectively, “the Community Groups”) – plainly have standing as “affected persons” entitled to administrative review of the Critical Area Permit and Coastal Zone Consistency Certification (“the Permits”) issued by the State Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”) to the South Carolina State Ports Authority (“SPA”). *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(E)(2) (providing that any “affected person” may challenge DHEC-issued permits).

The Permits would allow SPA to place five large piling clusters in Charleston Harbor needed to construct a proposed new 35 million dollar, 100,000 square foot cruise ship terminal. The new terminal is three times larger than the much older one SPA now operates, and is engineered to home-base much larger vessels – which in turn burn much more diesel fuel and generate much more air and water pollution than any ships previously home-based in Charleston. The new terminal will bring cruise operations much closer to Petitioners’ members, will emit visible and hazardous diesel soot emissions, and will increase water pollution risks in the immediate area. SPA’s own documents show the terminal will bring 1,600 cars, 20 tractor-trailers, 16 trucks, 32 buses, and 90 taxis daily into a small cramped area already suffering from traffic gridlock. R.002460.

The Community Groups sought to protect their members’ property and health by challenging DHEC permits that failed – unlawfully – to include reasonable conditions that would reduce pollution impacts on the immediate vicinity. Instead of allowing Petitioners to make their case, the ALC and then the Court of Appeals adopted new standing tests that impose unprecedented limitations on the rights of property owners and others to contest unlawful government action. Most dramatically, the Court of Appeals found that sworn evidence of particularized injury to the health and property of individual citizens cut *against* standing, because, in the court’s view, it meant these individuals would need to participate in litigating whether DHEC’s permits were lawfully issued. That ruling turns this Court’s precedent on its head and would give citizen groups with the *greatest* particularized injury the *least* standing to challenge unlawful government action.

The Court of Appeals also held – inconsistently – that individuals lack standing where their injury, no matter how direct and substantial, is experienced by more than one person. In the

court's view, evidence of particularized injury could be entirely ignored on summary judgment and dismissed as a "generalized grievance" that provides no standing so long as multiple persons suffer the same or similar injury. That too contradicts years of black letter law, which plainly holds that standing is not negated where multiple people suffer similar harm. *E.g.*, *United States v. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency Procedures (SCRAP)*, 412 U.S. 669, 688, 93 S. Ct. 2405, 2416 (1973) (rejecting rule that "would mean that the most injurious and widespread Government actions could be questioned by nobody").

Combined, these two standing holdings mean that citizens may not contest DHEC pollution permits where their injury is either: (1) individualized, or (2) *not* individualized. The result – that no group of citizens could challenge any DHEC permit – runs in the face of statutory text that allows any "affected person" to contest an unlawful DHEC pollution permit. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(E). This Court should grant certiorari to correct a major erroneous departure from South Carolina standing law.

The Court of Appeals committed two other major errors regarding standing that also warrant immediate review.

First, the Court of Appeals, like the ALC before it, allowed relitigation of the Community Groups' Article III standing to challenge permits for SPA's proposed cruise terminal even though their Article III standing to challenge permits for that terminal had already been litigated in an Article III federal court, which had specifically found standing to be present. *Preservation Society of Charleston v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers*, No. 2:12-2942-RMG, 2013 WL 6488282, at *15 (D.S.C. Sept. 18, 2013). The Court of Appeals found no collateral estoppel because SPA raised slightly different legal arguments concerning Article III standing in the subsequent state litigation. South Carolina preclusion law, however, prevents relitigation where a

party could have raised an argument on the same issue, but failed to. That is exactly what happened here.

Second, the court disregarded testimony of reduced property value and business values from the terminal in contravention of black letter law requiring that such testimony, on summary judgment, be viewed in a “light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox*, 301 S.C. 493, 497, 392 S.E.2d 789, 792 (1990). The court’s rationale for ignoring that evidence – a novel and impossible-to-satisfy requirement that property owners must prove declining property values before a permitted activity begins to qualify as an “affected person” who may contest the permit – departs from years of precedent holding that a party need not “await the consummation of threatened injury to obtain preventive relief. If the injury is certainly impending, that is enough.” *Babbitt v. United Farm Workers Nat’l Union*, 442 U.S. 289, 298, 99 S. Ct. 2301, 2308, 60 L. Ed. 2d 895 (1979).

Beyond standing, the ALC made, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, two rulings that were a clear abuse of discretion and warrant this Court’s review and reversal.

First, the ALC sanctioned the Community Groups for contending that a statute directing that the DHEC Board “must” conduct a review conference within 60 days of a request sets forth a mandatory duty. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F). Although no court had ever before addressed whether the term “must” establishes a mandatory duty, the ALC disagreed with the Community Groups’ interpretation and ordered sanctions against the Community Groups for seeking to enforce the Board’s mandatory duty through remand. The order was abusive and egregious, and this Court should reverse it.

This Court should also reverse the retroactive and unfair deprivation of the Community Groups’ discovery. In March 2014, the ALC declared that discovery had closed ten months prior,

in May 2013, despite discovery requests and productions by the parties well past that date, and despite the ALC's own acknowledgement that discovery was ongoing well past that date. The ALC's retroactive discovery closure, keyed on a default discovery period that the parties and the ALC itself had earlier blown by (and that testimony showed is seldom used in these cases), was a punitive abuse of discretion.

Altogether, the actions of the ALC, affirmed by the Court of Appeals in an unpublished and largely unreasoned opinion, worked to deprive families and property owners of their right to fairly and fully contest unlawful governmental pollution permits that will cause them harm. This Court's review is needed to correct fundamental errors of law that will sow confusion in the courts below and erase the accountability of government officials when they issue unlawful permits to pollute.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Should Review and Correct An Erroneous Decision That Removes Standing Where More Than One Citizen Has Particularized Injuries.

As a general matter, South Carolina courts have articulated a "constitutional standing" test based on Article III of the U.S. Constitution, and follow federal caselaw to conduct this standing inquiry.¹ See e.g., *ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 195, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008); *Beaufort Realty Co. v. Beaufort Cnty.*, 346 S.C. 298, 301, 551 S.E.2d 588, 589 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 560–61, (1992)). The Article III constitutional standing test requires a party to show: "(1) it has suffered an 'injury in fact' that is

¹ South Carolina recognizes three types of standing: "(1) standing conferred by statute; (2) 'constitutional standing'; and (3) public importance standing." *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Dep't of Transportation*, 421 S.C. 110, 117, 804 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2017) (quoting *ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 195, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008)). In this case, the courts below erroneously used Article III standing to deprive Petitioners of their statutory right as "affected person[s]" to administratively contest unlawful DHEC permits. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(E).

(a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the challenged action of the defendant; and (3) it is likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.” *Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. (TOC), Inc.* (“*Laidlaw*”), 528 U.S. 167, 180–81, 120 S. Ct. 693, 704 (2000) (quoting *Lujan*, 504 U.S. at 560–561(1992)).

South Carolina courts have also adopted the federal test for “associational standing” to determine whether an organization may bring suit on behalf of its affected members. Under that test, an organization must show that: (1) individual members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (2) the interests at stake are germane to the organization’s purpose; and (3) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of individual members in the lawsuit. *Beaufort Realty Co.*, 346 S.C. at 301, 551 S.E.2d at 589 (citing *Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Adver. Comm’n*, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977)).

To affirm the ALC’s erroneous finding that multiple sworn affidavits and documents from SPA’s own files did not raise a factual issue as to standing to prevent summary judgment, the Court of Appeals fundamentally misconstrued this Court’s decision in *Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Ass’n* (“*Carnival*”), 407 S.C. 67, 76, 753 S.E.2d 843, 851 (2014), to announce a new rule of law. According to the Court of Appeals, under that case, testimony from multiple individuals setting forth similar particularized injury is non-cognizable because injuries experienced by multiple persons are “only generalized grievances suffered by the public as a whole which are insufficient to establish standing.” Op. 9 (citing *Carnival*, 407 S.C. at 76, 753 S.E.2d at 851). That is a basic misreading of *Carnival*, and conflicts with long-standing precedent in this Court and the United States Supreme Court.

“Standing has never required proof that the plaintiff is the *only* person injured by the defendant’s conduct,” *Nw. Env’tl. Def. Ctr. v. Owens Corning Corp.*, 434 F. Supp. 2d 957, 965–66 (D. Or. 2006), and the U.S. Supreme Court has “made it clear that standing is not to be denied simply because many people suffer the same injury.” *SCRAP*, 412 U.S. at 687. By the Court of Appeals’ reasoning, “[t]he greater the threatened harm, the less power the courts would have to intercede;” which “is an illogical proposition.” *Nw. Env’tl. Def. Ctr.*, 434 F. Supp. 2d at 965–66.

The Court of Appeals’ erroneous reading of *Carnival* may stem from its failure to look past superficial resemblances between that case and this one to see key distinctions. First, while *Carnival* was a nuisance and zoning case, where plaintiffs faced heightened standing requirements (respectively, the need to show “special injury” and “special damages”), and was brought against a cruise line for ongoing operations, here citizens are seeking administrative review of state permits pursuant to a statute that gives that right to all “affected person[s].” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(E)(2). Further, whereas this Court decided *Carnival* on a motion to dismiss after finding no allegations of “particularized harm,” *id.* at 76–77, 753 S.E.2d at 851, here, standing was presented at summary judgment, and the Petitioners offered unchallenged testimony from multiple individual members describing specific, concrete, and particularized injuries they would personally suffer from the permitted terminal, as well as documents from SPA’s own files corroborating their testimony and other evidence of localized health effects from pollution.

For example, the Community Groups submitted the declaration of Tommie Robertson, who lives close to SPA’s existing small cruise terminal but who would be adjacent to the proposed, much larger terminal engineered to home base much larger and more polluting vessels. Ms. Robertson testified to seeing, from her dwelling, “thick smoke” which “moves from the

cruise ship toward [her] home,” such that “within seconds of breathing the emissions, [her] throat immediately began to hurt and [she] was forced to retreat indoors.” *Id.* She accordingly refrains from opening her windows or using her home’s porch while cruise ships are at the existing terminal, and she is reasonably concerned that the new, much larger terminal “closer to [her] home” with “larger and more frequent ships” will “significantly increase[.]” the adverse effects she already experiences. R.002589. She testified that “interference with use and enjoyment of [her] property will be increased if SPA is allowed to construct the new cruise ship terminal as permitted by DHEC starting with the pilings.” R.02590. This testimony more than sufficiently sets forth particularized harm for “affected person” status under S.C. Code § 44-1-60.

But Ms. Robertson’s testimony was not the only evidence of standing. Marty Morganello testified that he personally swims and kayaks in affected area waterways and that increased pollution levels associated with the larger cruise terminal would cause him to alter his recreational activities. R.002751–52. Injury to recreational interests in the use and enjoyment of public lands or waters is well-established as sufficient injury-in-fact for standing, even if the injuries are shared with others who make use of such public resources. *See S.C. Wildlife Fed’n*, 296 S.C. at 190, 371 S.E.2d at 523 (injury to organization members’ personal recreational interests in public lands or waters caused by an agency decision is “sufficient to show standing” for organization); *Laidlaw*, 528 U.S. at 181–83 (upholding standing where organization member who lived twenty miles from South Carolina discharge facility limited his use of river due to reasonable concern “that the water contained harmful pollutants”).

Christina Dodd testified that she lives in close proximity to the SPA cruise terminal and experiences the deposition of “oily soot” on her home and is reasonably concerned what “this residue from burned sulphur-heavy fuel is doing to [her] lungs and overall health, as [she is]

breathing this pollution both inside and outside of [her] home,” which the larger new terminal would “only make worse.” R.002576–78. Virginia Lane testified that she lives and has a business in close proximity to the terminal and described how extreme traffic congestion and degradation of her unique neighborhood’s historic and aesthetic integrity injures her specifically and particularly. R.002581–85. Steve Gates testified that he is a nearby resident property owner who has experienced “heavier and more oily” soot deposited on his home from the advent of year-round cruise operations starting in 2010, forcing him to scrub his home “more often and more vigorously” than ever before and raising health concerns from that pollution. R.002593–97. Mr. Gates also described how extreme traffic congestion makes essential trips within his neighborhood practically impossible, and alleged that all of these impacts that would be worsened by the larger proposed terminal. *Id.*

Testimony regarding increased harm from the new terminal was bolstered by documentary evidence underscoring the reasonableness of health concerns from marine vessel air pollution. R.2608–13 (Claudia Copeland, Cong. Research Serv., RL32450, Cruise Ship Pollution: Background, Laws and Regulations, and Key Issues 6 (2008) (cruise ships rely on marine engines that burn high sulfur diesel fuel and produce large amounts of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxide, and particular matter, in addition to carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, and hydrocarbons; and noting diesel exhaust is classified as a likely human carcinogen, with emissions from vessels contributing to adverse health effects associated with ambient concentrations of particulate matter and visibility, haze, and acid deposition.)) *See also* U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Control of Emissions from New Marine Compression-Ignition Engines at or Above 30 Liters per Cylinder, 75 Fed. Reg. 22,896, 22,903 (April 30, 2010) (describing the health and environmental impacts of marine diesel exhaust). Such

“evidence of a credible threat to the [testifying members’] physical well-being from airborne pollutants” is sufficient to satisfy constitutional standing’s injury requirement. *Hall v. Norton*, 266 F.3d 969, 976 (9th Cir. 2001).

The Petitioners also cited evidence from SPA’s own files showing that the proposed terminal is intended and engineered to handle larger, more polluting cruise ships than current facilities can accommodate. *Compare* R.000124 (existing home-based *Carnival Fantasy* has “a capacity of 2,054 passengers”) *with* R.002439 (anticipating home-basing a 3,500 passenger ship visiting twice a week); R.007493 (new terminal “designed to handle ships up to 3,500 passengers”); R.002438 (design objective for new terminal includes upgrades “necessary to support the resulting increases in passenger traffic loads”); R.007461 (SPA admitting that traffic counts at existing terminal are “considerably lower” than projected levels at new terminal).

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