THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

MAR 19 2018

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Case No. 13-ALJ-07-0056-CC
Appellant Case No. 2014-000847

Preservation Society of Charleston, Historic Charleston Foundation,
Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Association, South Carolina
Coastal Conservation League, Charlestowne Neighborhood Association,
Charleston Chapter of the Surfrider Foundation, and Charleston
Communities for Cruise Control Petitioners,

vs.

South Carolina State Ports Authority and South Carolina Department of
Health and Environmental Control Respondents.

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

ARGUMENT

The Petition should be denied because it does not satisfy the requirements of Rule 242(b), SCACR. As an initial matter, there are no special or important issues in this case that justify the exercise of the Court's discretion under Rule 242, SCACR,² particularly in light of the Court's

² Rule 242(b), SCACR states that "[a] writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons. The following, while neither controlling nor fully measuring the Supreme Court's discretion or power to grant review in general, indicate the character of reasons which will be considered:

- (1) Where there are novel questions of law.
- (2) Where there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals.
- (3) Where the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court.
- (4) Where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved.
- (5) Where a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court."

prior decision to decline certification of the appeal for immediate review. Additionally, the Petitioners have abandoned their argument for public importance standing before this Court. Further, the Petitioners have failed to appeal from the adverse holdings on the causation and redressability prongs of the test for Constitutional standing. Consequently, the two-issue rule precludes Petitioners from prevailing in their challenge to the ALC's standing holding. Finally, the determinations on the issues of discovery and the imposition of sanctions were well within matters committed to the ALC's discretion and do not independently warrant review.

I. The two-issue rule precludes the Court's consideration of the standing challenge, because the Petitioners have failed to seek this Court's review of the adverse "causation" and "redressability" holdings of the ALC, rendering those issues the law of the case.

In order to satisfy Constitutional standing, a plaintiff must show all three elements of the test throughout the litigation: "[f]irst, the plaintiff must have suffered an injury-in-fact which is a concrete, particularized, and actual or imminent invasion of a legally protected interest[; s]econd, a causal connection must exist between the injury and the challenged conduct[; and t]hird, it must be likely that a favorable decision will redress the injury." Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Ass'n, 407 S.C. 67, 75, 753 S.E.2d 846, 850 (2014) (citing Sea Pines Ass'n for the Prot. of Wildlife v. S.C. Dep't of Natural Res., 345 S.C. 594, 600–01, 550 S.E.2d 287, 291–92 (2001) ("The party seeking to establish standing carries the burden of demonstrating each of the three elements.")). Even if a party shows a concrete and particularized injury, such proof is not enough to establish standing. The party must also show "causation" (i.e., that those injuries are traceable to the challenged conduct of the defendant), as well as put forward a sufficient showing of the likelihood that a favorable decision of the court would redress the injuries.

Before this Court, Petitioners do neither because they did not appeal the ALC's analysis and express holdings regarding the causation and redressability of their alleged injuries at all. See ALC Order at 11-13 (R.pp.000087-89). Consequently, even if this Court were to agree with Petitioners that they have presented a cognizable injury-in-fact, Petitioners' failure to appeal from the ALC's additional adverse holdings on causation and redressability precludes this Court from reaching the issue of standing. Robinson v. Estate of Harris, 388 S.C. 616, 627, 698 S.E.2d 214, 220 (2010) ("where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals *all* grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case") (emphasis added); Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 662, 594 S.E.2d 462, 471 (2004) (An "unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is law the of the case") (citing State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001); Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) ("[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case."); Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) ("Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case."); see also Rule 220(c), SCACR ("The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal."). Significantly, the two-issue rule "is applicable under []circumstances on appeal [other than general jury verdicts], including affirmance of orders of trial courts ... if the plaintiff failed to appeal [all] grounds or if one of the grounds required affirmance." Anderson v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 322 S.C. 417, 420, 472 S.E.2d 253, 255 (1996).

Here, the ALC's finding that Petitioners lacked standing was based alternatively upon the independent grounds and holdings listed in the Order Granting Summary Judgment for Lack of

Standing; namely that Petitioners failed to demonstrate *any* of the three elements of standing.³ Petitioners' failure to appeal the causation and redressability elements of standing from the ALC's Order means that those grounds independently support the ALC's Order and this Court is precluded from addressing Petitioners' standing arguments. Certiorari on the issue of standing should be denied.

II. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard to its determination of whether the Petitioners lacked standing to challenge the DHEC Permit.

Moreover, both the Court of Appeals and the ALC correctly determined that the Petitioner-associations failed to satisfy the injury-in-fact requirement of Constitutional and associational standing.⁴

Contrary to Petitioners' assertion that the Opinion stands for the proposition that "individuals lack standing where their injury ... is experienced by more than one person," Pet. at 4, the Opinion correctly holds that Petitioners failed to allege or identify any particularized injury and, instead, alleged or identified "only speculative claims that the proposed passenger terminal would adversely affect their property values and businesses" and that such speculative claims do not "constitute actual or imminent harm." Op. at 9 (citing Sea Pines 345 S.C. at 601, 550 S.E.2d

³ The ALC stated the following in the Standing Order regarding the three elements: (1) "this Court finds Petitioners have failed to show an injury-in-fact under Lujan for the purpose of establishing standing" (R.000087); (2) "[e]ven if Petitioners were able to show an injury-in-fact, this Court finds they cannot satisfy the second element of the Lujan test, which requires 'a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of—the injury has to be 'fairly...trace[able] to the challenged action of the defendant, and not ... th[e] result [of] the independent action of some third party not before the court.' Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 (quoting Simon v. E. Ky. Welfare Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976))." (R.000087); and (3) "there is no evidence before this Court that the denial of the permit in this case would redress Petitioners' alleged potential injuries." (R.000089).

⁴ An association only has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members if: (1) its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (2) the interests at stake are relevant to the organization's stated purpose; and (3) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of individual members in the lawsuit. Beaufort Realty Co., Inc. v. Beaufort County, 346 S.C. 298, 301, 551 S.E.2d 588, 589 (Ct. App. 2001).

at 291). Because all of the alleged injuries derive from cruise operations that already occur at Union Pier Terminal today, the ALC and Court of Appeals correctly found that Petitioners never established a cognizable injury-in-fact that was actual and concrete, not conjectural or hypothetical as it relates to a proposed, but yet-to-be-built, cruise terminal. See Beaufort Realty Co., Inc. v. Beaufort County, 346 S.C. 298, 303, 551 S.E.2d 588, 590 (Ct. App. 2001) (“[p]rospective concern falls far short of the standard of ‘concrete and particularized and ... actual or imminent’ harm set forth in Lujan”).

The ALC and the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the Petitioner's affidavits do not show an injury-in-fact⁵ because "generalized grievances suffered by the public as a whole ... are insufficient to establish standing." Op. at 9 (citing Carnival, 407 S.C. at 76, 753 S.E.2d at 851. The affidavits Petitioners use to support their standing arguments are deficient. For example, the affidavit of Tommy Robertson, Pet. at 9, conveys nothing more than general grievances that allegedly exist today as a result of *current* cruise operations and that have no established connection to a *future* cruise terminal or cruise ships, or any activity permitted by DHEC. See Op. at 3, Standing Order at 10 (R. p. 000086); Rule 56(e), SCRCP; see also, e.g., Bailey v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 388 S.C. 1, 11, 693 S.E.2d 426, 430 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding no causation because “potential of having boats mooring at the dock would still exist” regardless of the permitting decision).

⁵ It also should be noted that, without a single expert affidavit, Petitioners tried to connect allegations of *present-day* health problems resulting from existing cruise operations to *future* exacerbations from the shift of cruise operations 600 yards to the north through the submission of generalized information concerning health issues that were wholly unconnected to the Cruise Terminal. Contrary to Petitioners' assertions, see Pet. at 11, this was insufficient to meet their burden under Rule 56(e), SCRCP (i.e., “[s]upporting and opposing affidavits shall ... set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein”).

Nor do any of Petitioners' other affidavits establish standing. Christina Dodd, see Pet. at 10-11, complains that she is concerned about breathing pollution from cruise ships, but she is not qualified to opine as to any connection between her concerns about alleged *present* medical diagnoses and assumed injuries related to *future* cruise operations at Union Pier Terminal. See Dodd Aff. at 2 (alleging current injuries with no admissible testimony connecting allegations to the Critical Area Permit), (R. p. 000399); see also Standing Order at 8 n.9 & 9 n.12. Marty Morganello's complaints, see Pet. at 10, about cruise ship practices regarding waste are inadmissible personal opinion and unfounded speculation because there is nothing to show he is qualified to testify on these issues. Standing Order at 10-11 & n.15, (R. pp.000086-87). Virginia Lane's affidavit, see Pet. at 11, consists only of speculative harm along with unfounded opinion testimony regarding traffic issues and property valuation. Standing Order at 8 n.9, 9 & n.11, (R. pp. 000084-85). Finally, Stephen Gates' affidavit, see Pet. at 11, also consists of inadmissible personal opinion, legal conclusions, unsupported speculations, and hearsay repetition of purported medical opinions on which he is not qualified to testify. Standing Order at 7-8, 10 & n.13, (R. pp. 000083-84; 000086).

Petitioners misconstrue the Opinion by suggesting that the Court of Appeals held that it is necessary to "produce 'evidence of declining property values and business' attributable to the permit." Pet. at 19 (quoting Op. at 9). Rather, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioners' assertions regarding alleged impacts to their properties and businesses, unsupported by expert testimony, were "only speculative claims that the proposed passenger terminal would adversely affect their property values and businesses." Op. at 9; see also Carnival, 407 S.C. at 76-77, 753 S.E.2d at 851; Sea Pines, 345 S.C. at 601, 550 S.E.2d at 291.

Beyond the analysis of Petitioners' alleged injuries-in-fact, the Court of Appeals also correctly affirmed the ALC's holding that Petitioners were unable to "satisfy the third required element of associational standing, namely that 'neither the claim asserted nor the relief sought requires the involvement of individual members.'" Op. at 9 (quoting Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Adver. Comm'n, 432 U.S. 333, 343, 97 S.Ct. 2434, 2441 (1977)). Simply put, the nature of the claims as framed by Petitioners require participation of their individual members. See Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490 (1975) (denying associational standing because individualized proof was required). Here, none of the alleged injuries identified by Petitioners have anything to do with or derive from the respective affiants' membership in the organizations. Warth, at 511 ("[T]he association may assert the rights of its members, at least so long as the challenged infractions adversely affect its members' associational ties."). In essence, Petitioners are critical of the Opinion's application of the associational standing standard to their alleged injuries despite the fact that Petitioners chose to bring this action as associations, rather than individually. But the Court of Appeals and this Court are constrained to evaluating the claims Petitioners' actually advanced, not the claims they now wish they had advanced.

III. The Court of Appeals correctly determined the issue of collateral estoppel.

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the discretionary nature of collateral estoppel and correctly affirmed the ALC's rejection of Petitioners' collateral estoppel claim as to standing. Contrary to Petitioners' argument (Pet. at 16-18), the Opinion correctly holds that the issue of standing as it pertains to this case was not actually litigated before the federal district court. Petitioners had the burden of establishing that the federal court actually litigated the issue of their Article III standing to seek redress for both procedural and substantive injuries, but

Petitioners failed to make any showing to meet that burden. Therefore, there can be no collateral estoppel. Accordingly, certiorari on this issue should be denied.

IV. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the ALC did not abuse its discretion in imposing sanctions against Petitioners for advancing a frivolous motion.

For a number of reasons, certiorari of the Opinion’s determination that ALC did not abuse its discretion in sanctioning Petitioners is not warranted.

- a. Petitioners’ arguments regarding the merits of their motion to remand are unpreserved, as Petitioners did not appeal from the Remand Order.

Petitioners’ appeal of the ALC’s imposition of sanctions is based entirely on the claimed reasonableness of the arguments that they advanced in the motion to remand. Pet. at 20-22. However, Petitioners did not appeal the Remand Order that denied the motion to remand—or the ALC’s construction of § 44-1-60(F)—despite the fact that the Order expressly rejected the reasonableness of Petitioners’ construction of the statute. (R.pp.000009-11). Petitioners were required to appeal the Remand Order because the findings in that order formed the basis of the Sanctions Order that they now want to challenge. See Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury, Inc., 349 S.C. 558, 565, 564 S.E.2d 94, 98 (2002). Because they did not, the Remand Order’s findings now are the law of the case. See Atl. Coast Builders, 398 S.C. at 329, 730 S.E.2d at 285 (“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”). Petitioners are therefore unable to challenge the ALC’s construction of § 44-1-60(F), which determined, inter alia, that subsection (F) “obviously recognizes the existence of discretion,” and the DHEC “Board could not decline to do a mandatory act,” (R.p.000011), thus requiring affirmance of the ALC’s imposition of sanctions.

b. The motion to remand was unreasonable and warranted the imposition of sanctions.

Even if the Court were inclined to allow Petitioners to make arguments contrary to the ALC's holdings from the unappealed Remand Order, Petitioners' argument that § 44-1-60(F) requires a mandatory final review conference is patently unreasonable given the plain language of the statute and Petitioners' omission of contrary portions of the statute in their motion to the ALC. The statute provides as follows:

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